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Prelimnary Matters

These proceedi ngs concern a total of 88 citations issued to
Buck Mountain Coal Conpany (Buck Muntain), a general partner-
ship, during the period Septenber 1992 through July 1993. A
prelimnary hearing in these matters was held on Cctober 25,
1994, in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, to determ ne whether the naned
partners in these proceedings are jointly and severally liable
for any/or all of the citations in issue.

The prelimnary hearing was foll owed by ny Partial Decision
on liability, which is incorporated by reference, wherein
concl uded general partners David Zi nmrerman, Paul Zi mrer man and
Har ol d Schnoke are jointly and severally liable for all citations
i ssued to Buck Mountain for violations occurring on or before
April 13, 1993. Partial Decision, 16 FMSHRC 2367 (Novenber
1994). Thus, the Zi mrermans and Schnoke are jointly and
severally liable for 80 citations in this matter for which the
Secretary has proposed a total civil penalty of $160, 938.

| further concluded that the Zi nrermans and Schnoke
assigned their interest in Buck Muntain, including Buck
Mountain's mneral |ease rights at the Buck Muuntain Slope, to
Ri chard Kocher and Oscar Bl ough, Jr., as of April 14, 1993.
16 FMSHRC at 2368. Thus, Kocher and Bl ough are jointly and
severally liable for eight citations wwth a total proposed civil
penalty of $12,372.

! David Zi mrer man appeared on behal f of his father Pau
Zi mrer man who has severe, chronic obstructive pul nonary di sease.
(Resp. Ex. 1).

2 Kocher appeared at the October 25, 1994, prelimnary
heari ng. Bl ough represented Kocher's partnership interests at
t he hearing conducted on June 13, 1995.



A hearing on the nerits was conducted in Harrisburg,
Pennsyl vani a, on June 13, 1995. At the hearing, counsel for the
Secretary noved for the approval of a settlenent agreenent
reached w th Kocher and Bl ough. The settlenent concerns al
eight of the citations issued after April 13, 1993. These
citations are conprised of three citations issued in Docket
No. PENN 94-66 and five of the 20 citations issued in Docket
No. PENN 94-104. The parties propose a reduction in total civil
penalties from $12,372 to $2,000 to be paid by Blough in nonthly
install ments of $50.00. The $2,000 penalty represents a $1, 850
penalty in Docket No. PENN 94-104° and a $150 civil penalty in
Docket No. PENN 94- 66.

Bl ough affirmed the settlenment ternms on behalf of the
partnership in the absence of Kocher, who is incarcerated for
conduct related to the cited violations. Although the settlenent
terms relieve Kocher fromcivil penalty liability, as a genera
partner, Kocher is jointly liable for the $2,000 settl enent
penalty. Accordingly, | will approve the settlenment and proposed
paynment terns advanced by the parties. However, Blough may seek
to recover Kocher's share of the $2,000 paynent.

Statenent of the Case

Davi d Zi mrerman, Paul Zi nmrerman and Harol d Schnoke were
general partners of Buck Muntain Coal Conpany since April 1986
On April 10, 1986, partners D. Zi mmerman, P. Zi nmerman and
Schnoke | eased the right to extract anthracite coal fromthe
Buck Mountain Slope fromthe G MP. Land Conpany, Inc., in return
for a paynment of $7.00 per net ton of coal removed. (P. Ex. 3).
A Legal ldentity Report conpleted May 5, 1986, by Paul

® Docket No. PENN 94-104 concerns 20 citations. This

deci sion i nposes joint and several liability on Paul Zi nmernman,
Davi d Zi mrerman and Harol d Schnoke for a $2,500 civil penalty in
Docket No. PENN 94-104 for the 15 citations attributable to their
m ni ng operations on or before April 13, 1993. Thus, considering
the $1,850 liability of Blough and Kocher for the five remaining
citations, the total civil penalty in Docket No. PENN 94-104 is
$4, 350.



Zimerman, lists the partners of Buck Mountain as David

Zi mrer man, Harold Schnook (sic) and Paul Zi mrerman. The parties

stipul ated that Buck Muntain, which operated exclusively at the
Buck Mountain Slope in Eastern Pennsylvania, is a very snmal

operator that produced approximately 14,816 tons of coal in 1993.
(Sec'y

Br. at 4, 5). During this period Buck Mouuntain had a total of

si x or seven enployees, including the partners.

On March 5, 1993, an expl osion occurred at the Buck Mountain
Sl ope M ne causing serious burn injuries to three underground
m ners. As a consequence of the explosion, the Mne Safety and
Heal th Adm ni stration (MSHA) dispatched an inspection teamto
secure the mne and investigate the causes of the expl osion.
As a result of the investigation, 80 citations pertaining to the
Zi mmer mans and Schnoke were issued to Buck Mountain. O these
80 citations and orders, four orders and one citation, totaling
$130, 102 of the $160,938 total proposed civil penalties, pertain
to cited violations that contributed to the March 5, 1993,
explosion. The investigation revealed the contributing causes of
t he expl osion were the presence of a non-perm ssible 40-volt
battery | oconotive inby the | ast open crosscut; a broken
conpressed airline that operated auxiliary fans ventilating the
No. 5 face and No. 6 chute; the failure to conduct an adequate
preshi ft exam nation; and an insufficient velocity of air
ventilating the face.

The investigation was conducted by Janmes Di ckey and
Leonard Sargent. On March 11 and March 26, 1993, Kocher
all egedly threatened Dickey with bodily harm On March 29,
1993, Dickey was acconpanied to the mne by Sargent whereupon
Kocher allegedly threatened both inspectors. D ckey returned to
the mne on April 20, 1993, where he was all egedly threatened by
Paul Zi mrer man.

Kocher plead guilty to one count of threatening Federa
officials D ckey and Sargent on March 29, 1993, in violation of
18 U.S.C. " 115(a)(1)(B). Kocher also plead guilty to falsifying
training records in violation of 18 U S.C. "" 1001 and 1002(Db).
Kocher was sentenced to 18 nonths in prison.

Paul Zi mrerman plead guilty to one count of threatening
Federal official D ckey on April 20, 1993, in violation of
18 U.S.C. " 115(a)(1)(B). Zi mrerman was sentenced to three years
probation and fined $100. 00.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact and Concl usions of Law




At the hearing, the parties stipulated to the fact of
occurrence of the 80 cited violations, as well as to the degree
of negligence and the gravity referenced in the citations and
orders in issue. Thus, the only outstanding issue to be resolved
is the appropriate civil penalties to be assessed.

It is well settled that the Comm ssion and its judges are
not bound by the Secretary's proposed civil penalty assessnents.
Warren Steen Construction, Inc., 14 FVMSHRC 1125 (July 1992);
Sel | ersburg Stone Co., 5 FMSHRC 287, 291 (March 1983), aff'd
Sel |l ersburg Stone Co. v. FMSHRC, 736 F.2d. 1147, 1153 (7th G
1984). Rather, the proper penalty to be assessed nust be
determ ned by the trier of fact based upon findings concerning
the statutory penalty criteria in section 110(i) of the Act,
30 U.S.C. " 820(i).

Section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of six
criteria in assessing appropriate civil penalties:

(1) the operator's history of previous violations;

(2) the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of

t he busi ness of the operator; (3) whether the operator
was negligent; (4) the effect on the operator's ability
to continue in business; (5) the gravity of the
violation; and (6) whether good faith was denonstrated
in attenpting to achieve pronpt abatenment of the

viol ation. (Enphasis added).

Specific factual findings supported by the record devel oped
during the course of an adjudi catory proceedi ng nust be nade for
each of the statutory civil penalty criterion. Dolese Brothers
Conpany, 16 FMSHRC 689, 695 (April 1994); Westnorel and Coal
Conmpany, 8 FMSHRC 491, 492, (April 1986). As noted, the civil
penalties to be assessed de novo in these proceedi ngs can
appropriately be greater than, |less than, or the sanme as those
proposed by the Secretary. Sellersburg, 5 FMSHRC at 293. Here,
the Secretary seeks to inpose total civil penalties of $160, 938.

Thus, an analysis of the applicable penalty criteria foll ows.

The record reflects a history of 39 violations cited during
46 i nspection days that occurred during the 24 nonth period
precedi ng the March 5, 1993, explosion. | view less than one
vi ol ation per inspection day as a neutral statutory penalty
factor that does not materially inpact on the appropriate penalty
to be assessed.

As aggravating factors, the magnitude of the proposed

penalty is supported by the high degree of negligence manifested
by the aggravated conduct specified in the stipul ated orders
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associated wwth the March 5, 1993, explosion. Simlarly, this
hi gh penalty is also consistent with the extrenely serious
gravity of the cited violations that contributed to the expl osion
as denonstrated by the resultant serious burn injuries. A
further aggravating circunstance is the | ack of good faith
efforts to achieve rapid conpliance given the threats by Pau

Zi mmer man and Kocher, who was then the foreman of Buck Mountain.

However, the fundanental task in this process is to
determ ne the appropriate penalty to be assessed. In this
regard, the statutory criteria mandates the civil penalty nust
be appropriate to the size of the business of the operator.

Thus, inposition of a penalty without regard to the size of the
operator is contrary to the Act. Simlarly, a very large penalty
i nposed on a very snall operator is inappropriate.

The parties have stipulated to Buck Mouwuntain's production
of only 14,816 tons of annual coal production in 1993. ©MSHA
Supervi sory I nspector Janmes Schoffstall testified Buck Mountain's
extraction efforts consisted of only one unit staffed by six or
seven people who mned by hand after separating the coal by
drilling and blasting. (Tr. 129, 131).* In fact, Schoffstal
opi ned Buck Mountain's operations were so snall that investnent
i n mechani zed m ni ng equi prent "wouldn't be feasible.”
(Tr. 131). Wth regard to the respondents' profitability,
Schoffstall stated, "you could make a living, that's about it.
(Tr. 132). In recognition of this undi sputed evidence, the
Secretary concedes "there is no question Buck Mountain is a very
smal | business in conparison to coal mnes nationally ..."
(Sec'y Br. at 5).
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Finally, although David Zi nrerman and Schnoke continue to be
enpl oyed as m ners by successors at the Buck Mouuntain Sl ope, the
record reflects the Buck Muntain partnership consisting of the
Zi mrer mans and Schnoke ceased to exi st as an operator as of
April 14, 1993. Wile the inposition of a $160,000 civil penalty
undoubt edl y woul d have had an adverse effect on this snal
operator's ability to continue in business, the Comm ssion has
not addressed the applicability of the effect of the penalty on
an operator's ability to continue in business when the operator
is no longer in business. See Spurlock Mning Co., Inc.,

16 FMSHRC 697 (April 1994).

“* Al references to transcript pages in this decision refer
to the June 13, 1995, hearing.

®> Tax returns for 1993 for David Zi mernman, Paul Zi mernman
and Harol d Schnoke reflect partnership incone of $24,809, $14, 843
and $23,510, respectively. (Resp. Exs. 3, 6, 10).



However, the criteria in section 110(i) are not nutually
exclusive. Thus, the fact that a snmall operator is no longer in
busi ness does not invalidate the other statutory criteria. For
exanpl e, gravity and the degree of negligence remain relevant to
i nposition of the proper civil penalty. Simlarly, the size of
the operator during the one year period preceding the cited
violations remains a relevant statutory consideration despite the
operator's term nation of business.

As a final matter, there is a rebuttable presunption that
the inmposition of a civil penalty will not adversely effect an
operator's ability to continue in business. Sellersburg,

5 FMSHRC at 287. An operator has the burden of proving,

t hrough the introduction of financial docunentation, that a
proposed penalty should be reduced for financial reasons.

Spurl ock, 16 FMSHRC at 700. |If established by a respondent, an
inability to pay a proposed penalty may be a mtigating
consideration in lowering the penalty. Therefore, it is not
uncommon for respondents to furnish personal financial
information to support a reduction in penalty.

However, the Secretary has advanced the converse theory that
the ability to pay a civil penalty, based on one's personal
assets, is a factor that should be superinposed on the penalty
criteria, thus increasing a penalty that would otherw se be
i nappropriate under section 110(i). For exanple, the Secretary
has sought to obtain bank statenents and real estate appraisals
of the respondents' homes and property to support higher
penal ti es despite Buck Mountain's dimnutive size. However,
financial information, such as bank accounts, tax returns and
property apprai sals, cannot be used to overcone the statutory
penalty criteria that precludes very |large penalties for snal
operators.

In view of the very small nature of the Buck Muntain
partnership, | amreducing the Secretary's proposed penalties in
t hese proceedi ngs as foll ows:

Docket No. Proposed Penalty Assessed Penalty
PENN 94- 63 $ 1,964 $ 200
PENN 94- 64 $ 1,546 $ 150
PENN 94- 65 $ 1,726 $ 150
PENN 94- 104 $ 25,600 $ 2,500



PENN 94- 597

PENN 94- 618 $130, 102° $13, 000

PENN 94-619

Tot al $160, 938 $16, 000

I n reduci ng these proposed penalties, | note the

percentage reduction is conpatible with the degree of reduction
in the Secretary's settlenent agreenment with Bl ough and Kocher.

| al so note MSHA Conference and Litigation Representative

Cerald Moody's testinony that "[Kocher, as mne forenman] was the

nunber one negligent person in this whole situation.” (Tr. 107).
Kocher's negligence, as an operator's agent, is inputable to the

respondent partnership. Rochester & Pittsburgh Coal Co.,

13 FMBHRC 189 (February 1991). However, even the concept of

® | dentical Docket Nos. PENN 94-597, PENN 94-618 and
PENN 94-619 were created for each of the naned partners,
Davi d Zi nmrerman, Paul Zi nmmernan and Harol d Schnoke.



i nput ed negligence has its limtations in the face of the
di sproportionate $160, 938 proposed penalty in these cases.’

I n i nposing these reduced penalties, | amsensitive to the
Secretary's concern that the gravity of the March 5, 1993,
accident must not be trivialized by a substantial reduction in
penalties. (Sec'y Br. at 30). Rather, the Secretary urges ne
not to permt "the small size of the mine [as] a factor to be
considered in determ ning the amount of the penalties ... to
out wei gh the high gravity and negligence which has been
stipulated to in this case." (Sec'y Br. at 29). However, | do
not consider a $16,000 penalty on a very snall operator to be
trivial. Mreover, the penalty criteria in section 110(i) of the
Act nust be applied as a whole. The negligence and gravity
criteria cannot overcone the statutory mandate that the ultimte
penal ty nust be appropriate to the size of the business.?

ORDER

In view of the above, all citations and orders in these
docket proceedi ngs ARE AFFI RVED,

Pursuant to the parties' settlenent agreenent,
Ri chard Kocher, Sr., and Oscar Bl ough, Jr., are jointly and
severally liable, as partners, for paynent of a total civil
penalty of $2,000 consisting of a $1,850 penalty in Docket

"lronically, the Secretary's proposed settlement wth
Bl ough sought to relieve Kocher of liability for civil penalties
incurred by Kocher's partnership.

8 Wiile not asserted by the Secretary, an argument coul d be
made that the statutory penalty criteria applies to individual
penal ti es proposed for each citation. However, the cumul ative
effect of nunmerous citations (in this case 80 citations) does not
alter the requirenent of proportionality for the total penalty
sought to be inposed.



No. PENN 94-104 and a $150 penalty in Docket No. 94-66.
Consistent with the parties' agreenent, paynent is to be nmade in
forty (40) nonthly installnments of fifty dollars ($50.00) each
The first installnent is due on Cctober 1, 1995, w th subsequent
paynments due on the first of each month until the full $2,000
civil penalty is received. Upon tinely receipt of the entire
$2,000 civil penalty, these matters ARE DI SM SSED

As indicated above, Paul Zi merman, David Zi mrer man and
Harol d Schnoke are jointly and severally |liable as partners of
Buck Mountain Coal Conpany for a total civil penalty of $16, 000
i n Docket Nos. PENN 94-63, PENN 94-64, PENN 94-65, PENN 94- 66,
PENN 94- 104, PENN 94-597, PENN 94-618 and PENN 94-619. Full
paynent is to be made in four quarterly installnents of $4,000
each. The first $4,000 paynent is due on Septenber 30, 1995,

w th subsequent paynments due on Decenber 30, 1995, March 30, 1996
and June 30, 1996. Upon tinely receipt of the entire $16, 000
civil penalty, these docket proceedi ngs ARE DI SM SSED.

Jerol d Fel dman
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Gayle Geen, Esg., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Dept. of Labor,
3535 Market Street, Room 14480, Phil adel phia, PA 19104
(Certified Mail)

Richard D. Kocher, Sr., R D. 4, Box 393A, Pine Gove, PA 17963
(Certified Mil)

Ri chard D. Kocher, Sr., Buck Muntain Coal Conpany No. 2,
R D. #2, Box 425 B-2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Mil)

Gscar Blough, Jr., RD 2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Mil)

Gscar Bl ough, Jr., Buck Mountain Coal Conmpany No. 2, R D. #2,
Box 425 B-2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Mil)

David Zi nmerman, Partner, R D. 4, Box 357B, Pine G ove, PA 17963
(Certified Mil)

Davi d Zi mrerman, Partner, Buck Muntain Coal Conpany No. 2,
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R D. #2, Box 425 B-2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Mil)

Paul Zi nmerman, Partner, R D. 4, Box 357D, Pine G ove, PA 17963
(Certified Mil)

Paul Zi mrer man, Partner, Buck Muntain Coal Conpany No. 2,
R D. #2, Box 425 B-2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Mil)

Har ol d Schnoke, Partner, R D. 3, Box 77C, Pine Gove, PA 17963
(Certified Mil)

Harol d Schnoke, Partner, Buck Muntain Coal Conpany No. 2,
R D. #2, Box 425 B-2, Pine G ove, PA 17963 (Certified Muil)
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